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Biographical Note

John P. Mitchell was born on March 18, 1927 in Walle, Maine. He attended Waterville
schools and was active in the Boy’s Club and tlébfall, basketball and baseball teams. He
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Transcript
MikeRichard: The date is August 2nd, 1999, we're at the hofidmbn Mitchell in Waterville,
Maine, the time is about 2:30 and interviewing i&&/Richard. And Mr. Mitchell, could you

state your full name and spell it, please?

John Mitchell: Mike, my name is John Mitchell, John P. Mitchdlin assuming you want me



to spell my last name, M-I-T-C-H-E-L-L, much likee@ator Mitchell.

MR: What a coincidence, yes. And could you give merydate of birth, please?

JM: Three, eighteen, twenty-seven, March 18, 192keMi

MR: And where were you born?

JM: Well, in Massachusetts, Huntington, Massachuséftg dad and mom were working in
factories at that time, before they moved back aiéiwille. So my older brother Paul and |
were both born in Massachusetts, in Huntington.

MR: And how long did you live in Huntington before wirog back?

JM: | think, Mike, it was maybe three or four yeatghink my father’'s adopted grandfather
[sic father] passed away and he had to come back aactak of his mother.

MR: And have you lived in Waterville for most of ydife?

JM: Ever since then, except for the time, you knospént in the service or at college, and a
few jobs that we’ve had out of Waterville. But rho§my adult life has been in Waterville, and
all of my growing up years were in Waterville.

MR: And what were your parents’ names?

JM: My father’'s name was George, George Mitchell, &ctually, his real name was Joseph
Michael Kilroy, but he was adopted at a very yoagg by a Lebanese family whose name was
Mitchell. My mother’'s name was Mary Saad, whiclaisebanese name; my mother was an
immigrant from Lebanon, Mary Saad Mitchell after hearriage.

MR: And how do you spell the Lebanese name Saad?
JM: S-A-A-D, right.
MR: And what were your parents’ occupations in Waliex¥

JM: My father worked for the Central Maine Power Camp for a number of years as a
jackhammer driller. And then the Central Maine Bowent out of the gas business. They used
to have gas lines, | guess, that fed the stovelsdating and what have you. And so he was
unemployed for a year or two, and then his lasthedifteen or twenty years of work were as a
janitor at Colby College.

My mother was a housewife, but during that timeshae also a weaver in the mill. She worked
in the woolen mills. She worked, Mike, the, gefigridne two, afternoon or the evening shift;
the three to eleven or the eleven to seven shifigdit time for about thirty years while we were
growing up, and beyond our growing up years.



MR: And now you mentioned that your mother was Lebar{@intelligible word)?

JM: Right, she was a full-blooded Lebanese, you nsglgt She came to America with one of
her nieces, I'm quite sure it was 1919, as a yairig | think she might have been about
seventeen or eighteen then. And she had two siseze: one in Waterville, one in Bangor.
And | guess she decided to stay in America, andenad] thankful for that.

MR: And what was the Lebanese community in Waterlikle, when you were growing up?

JM: Well, actually, it was a fairly large communitfhere was a certain area in Waterville.
They called it “Header of Falls” in the Front Straeea. We have our own church, Maronite
church, there, and there probably were aboutvathundred fifty Lebanese families. And of
course as we were growing up, most of the folka there from Lebanon, the old timers from
Lebanon, so the Arabic language was spoken qutpiéntly then. And then, of course, as time
goes along we integrated quite nicely into the \Wéte community.

MR: Did your mother speak Arabic at home?

JM: My mother, my, yeah, she did. My mother was viergnt. And, well she actually was

one of the few Lebanese people here in Watenhbi¢ ¢ould read and write Arabic, so she did
speak. But you know, Mike, | think we, most of they brothers and my sister and | understand
Arabic quite well, but none of us speak that welt&use we tried to Americanize our, or
Anglicize, my mother more than she did. Althougby know, we can speak a few words. But
she did speak Arabic most of the time, and we \rgreg to make her into a dame, you might
say.

MR: And did your father ever pick up some Arabic?

JM: Yeah, my father, it's a strange case. My dag @ar@nt to school, and I'm not positive of
this, but either the sixth or seventh grade heogbbf school because | guess he had to work to
help out his mother. And at home they spoke, noptatl grandmother and grandfather, spoke
only Arabic. So he obviously had to learn to spedbic, which he did quite well, fluently, as

a matter of fact. And then he went to St. Fraabkool, a Catholic, a French Catholic school in
Waterville as a youngster from grade one to gradersseven. So he was very fluent in French,
and of course on the streets he was speaking Bndglie my father was a, he spoke three
languages quite well with a seventh grade educatimne of his sons or his daughter is
anywhere near like that.

MR: Wow, and, now did your mother and father maintdase ties to the Lebanese community
here?

JM: Yeah, we, the Lebanese community during the thmael, Mike, during the ‘30s and the
‘40s was a very tight knit community of folks. Atugh they all integrated well, most of them
were either mill workers or worked in the railrogards, there were very professional people.
There were some. And there were very few busipeeple. That had not occurred yet with the



Lebanese community. | think, Mike, what changeafthat was the war, WWII, where
everyone had to go, you know, in the service beirgge. And the opportunity to go to college
was presented now to almost anyone, if you westwaning service man. So a lot of people
who might not have gone to college had the chamg® to college, and because of it many of
them became doctors, lawyers, or business peodld@me quite well.

MR: And what were some of the other major ethnic gsaa town?

JM: Well, the French population, and I'm not quiteesnow, | still think it’s the largest group
in Waterville. And | think during those years,tire ‘30s and ‘40s, the French probably, if |
were going to put a figure on it, | may be wrondhat, but | would put that around fifty-five to
sixty-five percent of the population of Watervilkas of French extraction. Then we had the
Lebanese population. And there was a, not a humegf, there were some Italians, not many,
there were some families; and Irish background,&rmburse many English and what, you
know, what people might call Yankee backgroundad #ve had quite a sizeable Jewish
population in Waterville, many store owners andgssional people, and they had their own
synagogue and so there was a sizeable Jewish. aBowlle you might say had a pretty good
cross-section of people, like many cities. | thikkke, if you follow, if you follow the rivers in
Maine, much like you, in Lewiston with the Androggin, you find the mills, the woolen mills,
and you find the French population. Many of thead kome down from Canada and settled in
Waterville, Lewiston, Biddeford, Old Town becauddhe opportunities to work. The
Lebanese, as | say, | think somebody way backestdmére and, of course, like everything else
you kind of migrate to where you can speak theulag that somebody you’re familiar with can
do.

MR: And do you remember any ethnic tensions betwegrgeoups, maybe in your
neighborhood or in the town in general?

JM: You mean between the groups, animosities towaielgroups?
MR: Yes.

MR: Not really, Mike. You know, you had the usu@H he’s French” or “he’s Syrian.” In
those days we were mostly called Syrians becausarias had not yet been established as a
country; | think that occurred after WWII. But rnicdhink we've always been kind of blessed in
Waterville. I'm sure there were, and | know thesere some prejudices, you know, between
groups, but nothing, nothing major or nothing outivdnat would cause a real problem in town
between the different groups. | think young pedpé go to school tend to melt together. In
my own background, my brother Paul’'s and even ironogher Robbie’s and Senator Mitchell’s
growing up, we all attended the Boys’ Club. Anduyknow, and you’re playing baseball or
basketball or football, it really doesn’t make atifference what background somebody comes
from. We were just having a great time playing. | $hink those kind of things kind of helped
us a little bit in Waterville.

MR: And now you mentioned that you had three brothasone sister, is that right?



JM: Right, three brothers; Paul was the older, andd next, and Robbie was the third, and of
course he passed away a couple years ago, andrsedBeorge was the youngest of the boys.
And my sister Barbara [Mitchell Atkins] was the lyadf the family. So there were five of us.

MR: And what were the talents and interests of thigen in the household?

JM: Well, if you ask Senator Mitchell, he'd say, “Qhy brothers were all athletes,” which we
were. We all played, Paul and myself and Roblagegd football, basketball and baseball
throughout our high school careers, and then ilegel Paul was a baseball player at the
University of Maine, and Robbie and | were baskiétidayers at the University of Rhode Island.
George, thank God, deemed it more important td beeks and was quite happy, although
George was a pretty good athlete but he was qaitegin high school, and although he did
play some I think, Mike, he became a basketbailgrlat Bowdoin, a pretty good basketball
player at Bowdoin.

So, but our other interests, my father, and of seuny sister went to Maine. And my father and
mother of course insisted that we get a collegea&tthn. This was even before the war. So it
was. They were quite adamant about us going tosd@nd getting an education. In all the
cases it worked out quite well. Paul and | were &b go to college through the G.1. Bill, and |
also got a scholarship at the University of Rhadand. And Robbie and George, George went
to Bowdoin | think on a number of academic schdlgs, along with jobs and what have you.
Because at that time, | think when George wentdedin my father was unemployed, so there
was not much money in the family at the time. \Wear did have, my father had a car one year
in our lifetime, so, you know, not, we weren’'t wibgl and we weren't really poor poor, but, you
know, there just wasn't a lot of money around. Beitwent there and did quite well. And
Robbie went to the University of Rhode Island ara$wable to get some scholarship help and
work jobs so that we were able to do that and geeducation.

The family’s quite diversified; I've stayed in cdaeg most of my life, teaching and coaching.
My brother Paul, the older one, has a businesss@nmrinsurance company in Waterville.
Robbie was, worked in the bank, was a federal lesakniner and then was the president of a
bank in Biddeford for a number of years. My sigterght school for a while. And of course
George became a lawyer and was very fortunatehthgbt to meet Senator Muskie and, who
was a great tutor for George, and great things happened for George. | think because of
George’s own background, but | also think becaws®f®r Muskie played such a key role in
shaping George’s mind.

MR: And what was it like growing up in Waterville dog the Depression? You mentioned
that you weren’t as wealthy or too, too poor, bowiwas. . . .?

JM: Growing up was, we all found it, you know, we meéh some of the old timers and we
all enjoyed. . .. You know Mike, I think most g#e then didn’t have much so you never
thought you were just a small minority of poor pegyou might say, so that we walked to
school, but so did everyone else walk to schook didn’'t have a car and many families didn’t
have cars. And bicycles, if you had a bicycle ffmaught you were a millionaire and, there
wasn’'t any around. So those things weren’t badhe benefit we got in Waterville, as |



mentioned earlier, was the Boys’ Club, at leastherboys anyway. We were able to share a lot
of good hours at the Boys’ Club and learn to plaly &1d share with other kids, you know. The,
if you might, you know, the Jewish boys or thehrigds and the French kids, so it really didn’t
make a difference. If, you know, you're there god’re playing, if you make a mistake they
didn’t call you an ethnic name, or if they did ydidn’t call them. You might call them a jerk,

but not an ethnic name. So | think those were good

And of course, my tie in with Senator Muskie isuadty through Jane. Jane and | were
classmates all the way through school; we wentgb &chool together. And Jane lived around
the corner from where we lived during our high sdleareers. And so | knew Jane quite well,
much better than | knew Ed Muskie. | always thduggth Muskie would succeed because he
made the best choice of his life when he pickee&.Jand, | mean, he couldn’t have made a
better choice. And obviously | was right because put him on a great path. But I, | used to
watch them when they first started dating and & wavonderful romance to see the two of them
sitting down. And I'm sure that Senator Muskie wal&ing politics with Jane, but she was a
great companion and great person to be with Ed Musk

MR: And, what was Jane like when you were growindmngwving her as a friend?

JM: Jane was a very quiet person, nice person, luotadly outgoing and not flashy at all,
much like the Jane Muskie of the years as a govermafe and a senator’s wife who handled
herself with such grace all those years. And sag pvetty much like that during her high school
career, she was a nice. Jane was a nice persgmige person.

MR: And did you get to know the rest of the Gray figfi

JM: | knew them, but I didn’t know them well, Miké.knew her sister and | knew her brother
Howard and Jack Gray, but | did not know them als. wend then once we got to know Senator
Muskie, | got to know Senator Muskie quite welleawbefore George’s time actually. We, you
know, we watched him prosper, you might say, intjgsl as he went along. He was such a
straight shooter and such an honest guy. And sealveays a guy that if you saw somewhere,
he’d always remember you and call you by name sande always enjoyed him. But the Gray
family was a nice family in Waterville; they werdnmhly respected family in Waterville.

MR: And what were your parents’ political beliefs?

JM: Well, you know, you know Mike, | would guess the didn’t have much of a political
background in that sense, seeing that my mothertdiead English and no TV then to speak of,
and you know, my dad with a limited education, @lthh he was interested in politics. | think
the dominant figure in their lives was Franklin Rewgelt, because my mother thought, you
know, that he was- you know, the earth just revdbl@eund Franklin Roosevelt. Because she
came from Lebanon and she learned, and I'm, waaya\guite happy about that, that America
was a great place. It gave her a chance to wadqn though she came from pretty good means
in the old country. And then she saw her childtearish in America where, if you were in
another country in the Middle East or in Europe god came from a poor family, many times
you don’t have the chance to go to college. Buknmerica we had. So she, even though she



didn’t speak English very well and those kind ahgs, always loved America. And so their
political leanings, you'd have to say, by choicd tabe Democratic and not Republican
because most of their lives that we know were duFiranklin Roosevelt and Harry Truman'’s
time. And then later on, of course, like many geap America, she fell in love with Jack
Kennedy as most mothers did.

MR: And did you talk about politics much or at allthre home, like at the dinner table or. . . .?

JM: No, you know, that was not a high voltage topithough | must confess, although we did.
My father had a great interest in geography andisesl to sit and he’d ask each one of us the
capital of Australia and the capital of China areldvdo that kind of thing. But getting into
political chit chat was not really part of thehlrtk we did more talking about geography and
then, of course, sports. And that seemed to be thel- that might have changed once Paul and
I, we were the older ones, had left to go in theise or maybe to college. | don’t know if
George had a dying interest in politics eitherIumgigot out of college. So I, like | say, | don’t
think it was a high burner topic in our family At time.

MR: And what about your parents’ religious beliefs?

JM: We were all Catholic. My mother and, our backgy, the Maronite is a Catholic

offshoot. It's not the Roman Catholic but very gam and my father, of course, Irish Catholic

by birth, and then of course through the Lebanegelation. And we all attended St. Joseph’s
Maronite Church. And beginning with Robbie, andrttGeorge and my sister Barbara, they all
attended St. Joseph’s Maronite School. That stafter my brother Paul and | got into junior
high. 1 think it only went from K to six or sometlg like that. So George’s early beginning and
Robbie’s early beginning, and Barbara’s, the $ig,first six grades I think were in St. Joseph’s
Maronite School. A very small school, there wetemany students. And | think, Mike, if |
remember correctly, one room had one, two and tloregeah, one, two and three, and the other
four and five and six.

And George had a, had a head start | guess you sagh They, the nuns who were teaching
there, the Ursuline nuns, found him to be quitglitrand he was pushed up, as they did in those
days in the parochial schools, two classes. Sended up a very young graduate in high school.
As a matter of fact, they wanted to even shoveupnanother grade and we all put that down
because it would have, it might have made himdikery young fifteen out of high school. So
we thought it was not right to do that. But tHajuess you might say that there is some value in
even those small schools and two classes in ome,roothree classes, whatever it is, you never
know. | don’t know what makes a great educatidr@akground. Obviously your own talents,
but that’s the text of what went on in the famigigious-wise, and we’ve all remained in the
Catholic faith. We’'re not rabid | don’t think, kast in my case we’re not, Mike. You know,
we're very tolerant of, and my mother was alwaysegtolerant of other religious groups, as was
my father too.

MR: And how do you think, what are some of the waygeneral that your parents, through
your family life, affected you while you were growg up?



JM: Well they, Mike, they both were very hard workargl sacrificed greatly for the five of us,
you know. They, as | said, and no car except @ae ithink, my father had an old Chevy one
year. He’'d walk to work. And my mother, as | sairked at least twenty-five to thirty years
three to eleven or eleven to seven at night, budyd provided hot meals for us. And, and you
know, they were, it was just wonderful to see, knaw. | think you learn to respect that even
more as you grow older and see what happens, whatgact they had on you even though at
the time we don’t know that.

And of course, as most people in those days, irBB&and ‘40s, people from the old countries
and the first generation, authority meant autharty the police were to be respected, the
teachers were to be respected, coaches were &sjpected. You know, you just didn’t come
home and say Mr. So-and-so is cruel or Miss Sosamdbecause you got nowhere with your
parents then. Maybe it was wrong, but they tayghtat least a sense of, you know, staying
within yourself and the community. But they wereaj role models without being a role model,
if you follow what I'm trying to say on that.

MR: Who were some of the other people, or what weneesof the groups in town that weren’t
in your family that were very influential on youogving up?

JM: Yeah, |, the, well Mike, as | mentioned befores Boys’ Club played a really powerful
role, and we’ve always been great supporters oBthes’ Club because we all attended there
and it was a home away from home, and my motheaya\ielt comfortable with us being at the
Boys’ Club. And it wasn'’t a great distance front bome, so that it was, you know, a pretty
nice set up that way.

And there are a number of teachers in the schadéBy . . . And like in many cases, the coach
that we had at Waterville High was a wonderful pardVally Donovan, who played a key role
in some of the things that | was able to do. Ahdaurse, you'd have to say that the church
played a, at least during our early years, a cireng role in our upbringing and what have you.
So that would be about the-

But | really can’t emphasize enough the role thatBoys’ Club played in our. ... Because
from early September when school began, until earhe or the middle of June when school
closed, six days a week, five days from school@aitirday, most of the time was spent at the
Boys’ Club. In a controlled atmosphere, but spbate at the Boys’ Club which was a, which,
you know, when you think of it it's almost like aid babysitter in some ways if your family
feels comfortable, and ours did.

And of course, Mike, we got jobs too. We arguéhim family, we used to argue. My brother
Robbie figured he started working when he was tezleven years old in the woods, as a
woodsman. My brother Paul and | worked in storés. really not quite sure what George did,
he probably was studying. But anyway, so we alwegsjobs besides that, but that would be
about the, and you know. . . . | should mentibthink in those days, in the late ‘30s and the
‘40s we delivered papers. And tWéaterville Sentinel then, | think, played a pretty good role in
our backgrounds because it was- it was very muobal paper with local people running it.

And you got to know the people, you got. . . .min case | got to know the sports writers and the



people in the sports department. And | imagin&asrge progressed in his career the editorial
people and like that became paramount in his thingthey were important too.

MR: And you mentioned you went through public schaolé/aterville through high school?

JM: Yes, right from K to, K through, Paul and | balid. As | said, Mike, because St. Joseph’s
Maronite had not started until after we were ingbeenth or eighth grade and then they started
the Lebanese school. So we always went to putiiods.

MR: And what were some of your biggest interesthiendchool, through high school?

JM: Oh, I've got to say that, football, basketbaltldraseball, you know. We just played and
played and played. And that doesn’'t mean thatiae'tdstudy, because we had to, my father
insisted on grades too. And | was not an outstansiudent but | did a decent job, and my
brothers all were pretty good students. And miesiBarbara was an excellent student, so. But
| think those were the, those were the primaryredts in our lives. | know it's sad to say that,
but that's the way it was.

MR: Do you remember some coaches or anyone who wesdlg big influence on you,
teachersor....?

JM: Well just the one, just Wally Donovan was a regthod influence. And he’s the one that
kind of shaped my athletic career, during the.. And we had pretty good teams, Mike, at
Waterville. We were state champions two yearshen England champions one year, and
football champion and like that. So our career,wWagu want to rank it, you know, we were a
top-rated athletic group, who also produced acac&iyibecause of that team that | mentioned
to you. By the way, the, you asked about ethnakbeounds. The team that, in 1944 we won
the New England championship, and there were ddahese boys out of ten on the team, one
Jewish boy, two Irish youngsters, and one Yankgeufwant to call him that. But, so there was
a pretty good mixture there and we won all our gamé&/e didn’t lose a game that year. So that
played a big role, Mike.

| think the thing that, as | mentioned a little &#rlier, that changed the whole picture, though,
was WWII. There were not many families that esdampaving somebody either wounded or
killed. We were very fortunate because only Padl lagot in the war. And | got in very late,
four months before the war ended, and Paul wasljnayear. But anywhere down the street
there would be either a brother or a cousin orrasieuof somebody, and, you know, because of
the magnitude of WWII and the number of people tent in the service. So that kind of
shaped your thinking in many ways. And then whenwar ended and so many of us went to
school, it just turned everything around for evergo | thought anyway.

MR: Now did you go into the service right after grating from high school?
JM: Right out of high school, as most of the guystieh. You’d graduate we’ll say June 15,

and by June 25 or June 30th you were gone, eithityei Navy or the Army and, or the Marine
Corps. In my case it was the Navy.



MR: And where did you serve with the Navy?

JM: |, all stateside because the war ended. Thesm@ded four months after my induction in
the Navy, and | guess | got to be blessed agaith&dr And, but most of the guys that I, you
know, that | grew up with and all your friends,tjadout everyone was in the service then.

MR: And you stayed in the service for just a few rhefit

JM: No, as soon as | was able to get out | camewduth was almost two years, almost two
years in the service. Got out and then went tkegelshortly thereafter, to the University of
Rhode Island.

MR: And you mentioned you got a scholarship theres thiat one of the main attractions?

JM: Yeah, in basketball, right, plus the G.I. Bio my four years were, either by the G.I. Bill
or by scholarships, was pretty much taken caréich was a great relief to, you know, to my
parents at the time because Paul was also in sdnaidhe had the G.I. Bill. And Robbie and
George were just getting out of high school, reiadgo into college without the G.I. Bill. So the
burden was taken off my parents somewhat becaube @.I. Bill. Not only them but most
other parents, too, in the same category.

MR: And was the availability of the scholarship, waat a main factor in choosing URI in
particular or were there others factors?

JM: Yeah, | think, Mike, had | not had the G.I. Bllktill think | might have gotten a, as you
call them, a full ride at University of Rhode Istabecause of the basketball background. But
the fact that you don’t need it because of the Eill. | only got partials all the way through.

MR: And what were some of the, your interest in Usblyiously basketball was really big, but.

JM: That was the big one. Once again, I, and I'niyegou know, Mike, it's puzzling to me

as | think back, and | wish that | had become nodr@ student then and concentrated more, but
once again. ... And of course my eyes are opapatw because you're, even though the
service, you saw people from other parts of thenttgubut all of a sudden, you know, you're
starting to see, you know, people from New YoriMassachusetts on a regular basis in college.
And you, your whole outlook changes and it did epiand |1 was happy for that. | enjoyed my
years at Rhode Island. Most of my friends wenth®University of Maine and, as my brother
Paul went. But I just don'’t, | can’t say that ltg@ademically charged up. | did my job but not
to the point.

And frankly, I, my interest in politics startedgoow quite heavily at Rhode Island. President
Truman was the president then and | don’t ever nelpee my father saying “You're a
Democrat,” or “You're a Republican.” 1 think wegfell into the slot and so | started to get
interested in politics. And then up- | never,thlough my life, never aspired to run in politics



and | never did. In every case, in Senator Muskiase | would do whatever they ask you to do,
you know, put stamps on or put signs up. In myh®os case, George, we did the same thing.
And when my brother Paul, the older one, who waditist politician actually, he was local, ran
for the alderman’s seat, we did the same thindpifor.  So, but | never, myself, personally
wanted to run for public office. It just wasn’t rbag. Let me put it that way.

MR: And were you involved in any campaigns other thaumr brothers’ and Senator Muskies’?

JM: Not really directly. | contributed a little mopeor, if they would call, Mike, and say
“"Would you put up a sign?” | would do that. Ortifey say, “Would you help us deliver
something?” | would do that, but not as a constikbaranything else, never.

MR: So really outside of the circle of your brothexdgge’s political connections, and Senator
Muskie, you didn’t really nintelligible word)?

JM: That's right, it was, basically it started witer&tor Muskie and then culminated with
George’s. You know, we were quite- you know, paditis- As you know, it can be a lot like
athletics, you know. You play the game and yoe laxsd you're very disheartened. And |
coached for many years, but | found the differdoei@g, and it was almost heartbreaking in
politics, when my brother George ran for govermdelieve it was ‘72 or ‘73 and then was
beaten by independent Jim Longley from Lewistoesud. Then you start thinking, you know,
it's going to be two or four years before he rugaia. It's not like football or basketball, next
week or three days down the road | have a chancen@ back and win another game. And |
must confess that of all the heartbreaks I've Imagports and in politics, that was the most
heartbreaking experience of my life; losing in poi. So it's a very difficult thing. | was
convinced then that | wanted nothing to do with@mn feelings running for politics, | just said,
“Let my brother George handle it.” But it was aywead day that, a very sad night actually, that
night when the senator was running for governon taad didn’t come out on top, probably the
best thing that ever happened to him, though.

MR: And you mentioned you were getting more inteikgtepolitics in college, were you
involved in any political clubs or?

JM: No, | was not involved at all except that |- $jistarted taking a deeper interest in what the
president was doing, what the campaigns were Wkad politics were hot and heavy in Rhode
Island, and at that time most of the big nameshode Island were Democrats, [Theodore]
Francis Green, Senator Green, and Governor Paatdrenen like that. So | did get interested in
that. And of course | think your horizons widewer whether you like it or not, they widen in
college, you know. And then for the first time ysaw the other side of the fence also. There
were many heated debates, and | never was pdrewf, tout between people who were very
anti-Harry Truman and very pro-Harry Truman. Ahdn the arguments would, you know, in
the fraternity house or in the, but. . . . Andrtlod course at that time | think Senator Muskie
might have just been starting his political catesck in Waterville. I'm not exactly sure the
sequence of Muskie’s, but | think | was gone attiime.

MR: Yeah, | think he started at the State House'#ikeor ‘47 or so, so.



JM: Yeah, and that would be the year that | startedeaUniversity of Rhode Island. | do
know that when he first, if I'm, | may be correct this, getting a meeting of Democrats to meet
Senator Muskie, who was not the governor then, &®just a lawyer in Waterville, Maine. You
were lucky to get twenty people at meetings. Yoaw, sit down and listen to Ed Muskie say
what he’s going to do as governor of, I'm sure g@hebody in your interviews must have said
that. You know that Senator Muskie was beaten atétille for the mayor’s seat by a local
businessman, who was a nice man, Russ Squire.y@wknow, when you think of it, Ed

Muskie, the giant of giants in Maine, he startsaofl is beaten in Waterville. In Waterville of
all places, Mike, because Waterville in those dagald be much like Lewiston and Biddeford,
maybe sixty-five or seventyufintelligible word) had registration as Demaocratic, so. Maybe Tip
O’Neil was right, politics is local. But that'dyat would be my feelings about my political
feelings.

And then after college of course | really becantergsted, and politics is almost like a sub thing
with me with sports now, politics and sports. Mesgot us really going on a national scale,
Senator Muskie did, you know, because he kept impgoand improving. And of course as he
would move up, George Mitchell was part of his groyou know, consultant or whatever he
might have been at the time. And so our interesivgeven more pointed because of the
association with your brother. And many, the pest or the vice president would come to
Maine on one of those political rallies. And wevays, in most cases we were able to meet
personally because of the Senat-, George Mitclegtidowith Senator Muskie. So it was always
nice that way. And so, since that time, I'm nateswhether | read the political page or the
sports page first now.

MR: What was your major at URI?

JM: | was a business major, not a phys. ed. majtinodght | might want to get into the
business field but it just didn’t work out that waBut | enjoyed, and | was a history major, |
mean minor, history minor, so | enjoyed history &k all my electives in history.

MR: And you graduated, it must have been ‘50 or ‘51?

JM: Fifty-one, right. And then [I] stayed right &iet university one year, Mike, as the assistant
basketball coach before | then moved on. My wifd Bmoved to Washington, | worked for an
insurance company, she worked in a bank. AndwWename back to Maine the middle ‘50s
and | taught school and coached at a Catholic $itool in Bangor, John the Baptist High
School, for four years. Then I, we went out wast gear to Tucson, Arizona when | taught
school there at a Catholic high school, and thercavee back to Waterville, it would be ‘58 or
‘59 | think, and we’ve been in Waterville ever ssncAnd |, most of those years have been as a
teacher and a coach. And I'm still, even thougbr’t teach any more, I've been retired from
teaching now for about twelve years, an assistaatit at Colby now the last, actually thirty-
three years.

MR: And what subjects have you taught, in what sulfjage you taught?



JM: Mostly history or government courses, problemdarhocracy, and some geography, about
half and half, Mike, between high school and jurigyh school.

MR: And, now you mentioned your wife, Prin [PrunéMichell]. When did you meet her?

JM: Prin? Prin was a Winslow native. She, | metdwtually at a dance at the grange hall.
And she was the head cheerleader at Winslow thes yieat | was playing at Waterville, so we
go back even longer than our marriage. We go batk] 945, Mike, when we first met. And
Prin never went to college, but she also was, dathghpolitical bug. She, she supported
Senator Muskie way back and went to all of hisyearéetings. Those were the years when |
was in college. And she would go to all the meagiwith a few friends of ours. So she got,
although she never ran or anything else, she d&t nfahe work like we would do; posters,
signs, seal envelopes or whatever.

MR: Now what was, you mentioned you were in Washindto the early ‘50s, early or mid
‘60s (unintelligible word)?

JM: Right, ‘52 until ‘54.

MR: So what was the time there like, compared tog&inVaterville? Very different | would
think.

JM: Well, it was very different and, it's a great exignce. Washington is a nice place, but
unless you make a lot of money, which we didn’tilbecomes a tough place to live. And once
we started to raise a family we decided that wedidn’'t want to be in Washington. And our
decision to come back to Maine was a wise oneeatitiie. Had we pursued the insurance or the
other, the bank as a, I'm sure that we would hawveecback to Maine eventually. We just came
back a little earlier than we thought we might, BlikAnd it was, | think Truman was still the
president, and then Dwight Eisenhower was electesigient the, my, the last year we were in
Washington. Matter of fact, we went to the inaajyarade on one of the streets, H Street or G
Street or something, a seven-hour parade or songethi was nice to go to Bill Clinton’s
inauguration, because George Mitchell was a semia¢orso our seating was a little better.

MR: And, let’s see, okay, yeah, when were you fimgbilved with your brother George’s
campaigns, what was the first campaign?

JM: During the gubernatorial- actually, actually Mike. It could have been a little earlier. 1
think when he was the Maine state chairman- thgy gdwairman, there would be things that he
might want us to run errands, not on a regularsbasi once in a while. “Would you go to
Bangor and take these things up for me?”, or somglike that. | remember one time actually,
he asked me to drive Senator Muskie and Jane tgd3da speak at, | even recall the name of
the club, the Tarratine Club [http://www.bpl.lib.ras/spcoll/tarratine_club.htm]. And I did, |
drove Senator Muskie and Jane to the Tarratine ®@hdre he spoke, and then drove them back
to China Lake where they had their camp on ChirleL&o those would be the kind of things
that | started with, with George. And then as oeigto it himself personally, then we became
more personally involved. But as | said, nevea asnsultant, even though he asks all the



family, but mostly delivering envelopes or puttisigns up or anything at all that. . . .

End of Sde A
SdeB

MR: This is the second side of the tape of the im@rwith John Mitchell on August 2nd,
1999. And we were starting to talk about yourtfo@ampaign for George that you were involved
in, the gubernatorial campaign?

JM: Right, Mike, he, | think when George was the Mgjgarty chairman, the Democratic
chairman, we would run errands for him, but noaaegular basis; he might want you to do
something. And I recall one time when he askedateansport Senator Muskie and Jane to
Bangor. Senator Muskie was speaking at the Tagaiub and | drove them up and took them
back to China Lake after the thing. And those widag the kind of things that, affairs that
George might ask us to do favors for. And thenafrse as he became involved himself
personally, running for governor and then lateasrsenator, we became more personally
involved, never as consultants in that respectabwiys to do sign work; stuffing envelopes and
what have you.

MR: And you continued to do these jobs through Gesrigéer senatorial campaigns?

JM: Right, all the way through, right, you know, yathen Senator Muskie | guess played a
role in George Mitchell becoming the senator widloyernor Brennan selected George as a
senator to fill in for Senator Muskie. And | camrember the feeling that many people had that
how, you know, how can George fill in Senator Ma@skishoes, actually size-wise and
otherwise? Senator Muskie had pretty big feett dByway, | always knew that Senator Muskie
had a great respect for my brother George, andat gespect for his intellect.

And | remember telling someone and they said, “Weéz, |, your brother has to run in about
two and a half years when the term is up.” Anditis“Well, that gives him two and a half
years.” And when people meet George Mitchell imbmroups they learn to know who he is.
Because prior to that time, Mike, they had alwdaight that he was too judicial, too stiff, too
scholarly in his speeches and what have you, bilknges him as a really nice guy and a friendly
guy. And I think he, | think he learned how to warowds being around Senator Muskie all
those years, too. Actually the good and the Wesemator Muskie would explode on occasions,
and | think George always said, “I don’t want td tgethat point if | can help it.” And

sometimes | don’t blame Senator Muskie, | think poight to explode once in a while. But
anyway, that’s, that would be about the extent pftihings with George.

MR: Now you mentioned Muskie’s temper. What exarglyour take on his temper? People
have mentioned that he used it or sometimes itusad for another purpose?

JM: Well I never experienced it, Mike, directly. Nglationships with Senator Muskie were
always very cordial and very friendly. And | guésgou’re going to talk about the temper,

you’d have to talk to folks that directly worked f8enator Muskie, or maybe people in the press
who might have had. ... But |, I'm sure it'seérbecause too many people have mentioned it not



to be true. But | can honestly say that | neveregienced it. And | always thought he got a bad
rap in New Hampshire, with your paper, anchester whatever. And surprisingly, Mike, the
critique at the time, the critics, was that Muskigs crying. And so if he’s crying, so what?
Now, it's almost stylish to cry. All these big &tes cry all the time. And now you become a
real man if you cry about your father or mothemigesick, or your wife, or. . .. And then, of
course, theManchester Union really butchered Senator Muskie and | kind of gifaut was a

bad rap. And we always wondered what would hayppéaed had he survived and made the
run, because | feel certain that Muskie would hasen a great president for the United States
also at the time. But anyway, | can't tell youeditly, Mike, about his temper. Maybe George
Mitchell can or Don Nicollsdic Nicoll] can or somebody else can.

MR: And, talking about Senator Muskie, when did yiost fmeet him?

JM: | would say | met him somewhere in the middles4l0can’t tell you exactly, ‘46 maybe,
‘47, when he was a young lawyer here and startrdpte Jane. And on my way home | would
see them parked in the car on Union Street, notgdanything wrong, but talking. And then you
get to know, Waterville is not that big a town, bat his reputation and the Mitchell family were
quite well known, so, and knowing Jane, of cour&e.a matter of fact, | think Jane might have
come to our earlier reunions, our class reunidims.talking about the ‘50s and | think. I'm not
sure whether the senator or the governor at the ¢@mme to our reunions, but | know Jane did a
few times, so that kind of a connection, Mike, &aely connection with Senator Muskie. After
that it grew, as | said to you, a little tightedaanlittle warmer because of the association in
politics and with George being there.

MR: So you really, did you work with Senator Muskieal in his campaigns during the
governor period, or was it later you said, in th@s?

JM: No, it was later. | was in Arizona when he wba governorship, and we were so happy
when we read the paper out there in Arizona thdtatewon. And | played golf with the senator
a few times. Even then he didn’'t show a temped, &dew choice words but nothing really bad,
nothing worse than | would say either.

MR: What was he like as you got to know him more?

JM: I really liked him. | never engaged in deep aansation with Senator Muskie but he
seemed to be able to know what to say to you arat tehtalk to you about. And he knew my
associations in sports so we would generally haesvavords, and then maybe about, “How is
Jane doing?” or “How is Prin doing?” or somethiikg lthat. So our conversations were quite
general and quite friendly most of the time, Mike.

MR: And did you get to know other members of the Meigamily?

JM: No, not really. | met the children, but alwaygalitical gatherings where it's, “Hi” and
“how are you?” and “Hi,” and “how are you?”, nevera close association.

MR: Okay, well | guess I'll start asking you- I'vetgalittle list of people that Don [Nicoll]



wanted me to ask you about, who you might have sofoanation on. And the first person is
Frank Coffin?

JM: Mike, | did meet Frank Coffin, except much likeetMuskie people, at political functions,
and only, “Hello, how are you?” and, “I'm Georgetbhell’s brother,” and what have you, so.
But | always heard such wonderful things about &udgffin. He, along with Senator Muskie,
were the two intellects in Maine, and | guess dguakponsible for the rise of the Democratic
Party as a state, as a, you know, viable partyeyThade the party together. But | really cannot
tell you that much about Frank Coffin other thaat{iMike.

MR: Okay, and what about Max Codere?

JM: Maxie Codere was a local man. Yes, Maxie wag waich in politics, behind-the-scenes
kind of a guy. Wonderful person, lived around tloener from us here. And I'm sure that Ed
Muskie thought highly of Max Codere and | know Maadere thought highly of Ed Muskie.
And | imagine you'd have to be a bad Democrat f@xNCodere not to like you very much. But
he was a wonderful person, yes, | knew Maxie well.

MR: And how about, well of course Don Nicoll?

JM: Don, oh, I met Don through Senator Muskie's afand through George Mitchell. And |
always liked Don and, a hard worker, and |, aghjrk, I'm not positive, | think he might have
been George Mitchell’s first boss in the office.aye he’s the guy that George Mitchell started
the right way.

MR: Let's see, Erlon Nadeau, did you know him?

JM: Erlon Nadeau was another old political junkienfrthe South End, they called it, which
would be the so-called French area of Watervilioaigh most of Waterville was of French
background. But, and he was an old plugger amaldryou kind of had to kowtow to Erlon to
get, get him to get his hundred fifty votes dowmird seven or what have you. And I'm sure
that he’s another big supporter of Senator Muskige early, in the ‘40s when the governor,
when he became governor.

MR: How about Harold Dubord?

JM: Harold Dubord, wonderful person. |, this, ohistis Harold Dubord, | didn’t, no, | didn’t
know him, Judge Dubord. He was the dad of Dick @dlwho was very good friends with me.
| did not know Harold Dubord at all, but | knew tfanily. | knew Dick Dubord and his brother
Bob, but | didn’t know the judge at all, Mike.

MR: What were Dick and Bob like?
JM: Oh, Dick Dubord was a wonderful person who unfioately died at a very young age.

And | guess at one time he was a very, very closad of Senator Muskie and was one of his
early confidantes, and what have you. Bob Dubibrel pbrother, was younger than Dick, the



dentist, who had a wonderful sense of humor, anaddedul Democrats both of them. And Bob
still is a great Democrat, and his wife, but thegrevearly, early Muskie supporters, very good
ones. And as | said, unfortunately Dick Dubordseaisaway much too early in his life.

MR: And, well obviously George Mitchell I've got here
JM: George, well. . ..

MR: Probably. . ..

JM: George can speak for himself. He does a goodtjab
MR: George Jabar? Or Jabar?

JM: George Jabar, yeah, father to a family that,lzabese family whose sons, three of his
sons, we were in school together and played bgdtter and, Herbie, Normie and John. And
then the next group of children he had, Paul antyTabar, played in high school with my
brother Robbie and with George. So there’s a #igiliy tie in. George Jabar’s the old union
man of Waterville, Maine, in the middle ‘30s, antDCwas behind this “we shall be moved,”
and was a very, very strong Democrat, very strargher of Democratic principles. And his
family, all of the boys, and | imagine the sistens still. . . . And John Jabar, who is a lawyer
now and has been for years, who was in schoolmwétand with Jane, worked in Senator
Muskie’s field office in Waterville for a number gears. So there was a big tie-in there
between the families. George Jabar was one ajrigaal union people in Waterville, Maine,
and then, when the union was first starting toriluhere. You didn’t mind me singing did you,
(unintelligible phrase)? | remember that song from the ‘30s.

MR: How about Paul Dundas?

JM: Paul Dundas, the mayor of Waterville. And when gay politics is local, you have to
think that Paul Dundas was very local and a nice aral a good mayor. And I think in those
days, Mike, I'm not positive but I'm quite sure, mght have been a mayor like four or five
terms, but | think the terms were only one yeanth&nd I, he did a nice job, and was a very
friendly guy, with an Irish background | believeydsanother early Democrat.

And, Ed Muskie had great support once he got img dnce he got into the mode of running |
think. You almost have to liken Senator Muskie &wbrge’s careers in some ways; when
Muskie was defeated as a candidate for mayor irekMdle, Maine, and George Mitchell was
leaning, running for governor and they both weratbe. And for whatever we know, maybe
God set it up that way, they both went on to sugatgr things on a national scale that maybe it
was the best thing in the world that happenedemtH don’'t know. Can you tell me, Mike?

MR: | sure can't.

JM: Don Nicolls Eic] [Nicoll] can probably tell us.



MR: How about Dick McMahon?

JM: You know, Dick McMahon, and | did, | know him ¢eiiwell, he was very friendly with my
brother Robbie, but he was the “know-how” guy intévaille. | think he was Ed Muskie’s guy
that would tell Ed Muskie, “I think you ought to dis,” or “you shouldn’t do that,” or “you
should do this,” in the early years. | don’t knasvat went on after, but | think he was the
political brains in the early going of Muskie’s cpaigns in Maine, a really nice guy, Dick
McMahon.

MR: Okay, oh, Paul Fullam?

JM: Professor Fullam | didn’t know; | know of him, @blby College. But | wasn't privy to
knowing him at all. | might have met him for a mia or so, but that was it. But highly thought
of and well-respected in local and in the state&keMi

MR: How about Paul Julian?

JM: Paul Julian is another, you must have gotterstiig from him on, from my brother Paul,
didn’t you, whoever interviewed my brother PaulecBuse Paul, my brother Paul went to work
for Paul Julian in the insurance office, and thémnk bought that, the agency, through Paul. |
didn’t know him well but he’s another. . . . Tlss boy, this is really the Muskie group when
you're talking Dundas and Julian and Dick McMahitrat's. . . . But he was another old
political, and I use the word in a nice way, junkiéVaterville, that got going. And | believe his
background is an Irish background, too. I'm naogipee of that, but | think there was that little
Irish clique in there, that got going there.

MR: Okay, and last but not least is Spike Carey.

JM: Spike Carey, Spike Carey, Spike is an interestimyacter. Spike is my age, maybe a little
younger, and we went to school together in Watler\dnd was always interested in politics |
guess, and was involved in everything. And Spilked to play politics, he, even though he was
a Democrat sometimes you had a hard time gettimgtdicome to your, your ways of thinking.
But | think Spike served as mayor for two or threens, did a nice job, and then was a member
of the House and is now a member of the Senaiek,tthe Maine State Senate. And if I'm not
mistaken, Mike, | think he ran for governor onedinBut Spike was pretty much a Waterville,
Central Maine politician more than anything. Butem | think of it, | really don’t know what
Spike’s association was, with Senator Muskie was.sure they must have had some kind of an
association, but | don’t know what it was. And I&ure that Spike played a key role in the early
Muskie campaigns. Once again, in the south théytcethe South End, which was the heavily
populated French area that would produce the vegon Waterville. We'll say out of two
hundred fifty, two hundred seventy-five voters, Bemocrat would get two hundred votes, two
hundred twenty votes, much like some of the wands tised to be in Lewiston. Not so much
any more, is it, in Lewiston?

MR: With the Franco clubs thing?



JM: Yeah, it doesn’t go as easily as it used to.

MR: | don't think it does.

JM: You can't take it for granted any more.

MR: Yeah, it's changed a lotiintelligible phrase).

JM: Right, yeah, that. . . . because | think at ame tyou could almost run anybody on a state
scale, governor or what have you, and Lewiston strgoaranteed eighty percent of the vote,
which would give you a huge margin, you know, inming. But |, it just doesn’t happen any

more. Not even in Waterville, or the, or even Riftatd | don’t think runs that way any more.
Mike, what else can | do for you?

MR: Well, are there any other political figures oppke that you can think of that we might
want to add to this list, or people that you kndattyou can talk about for the ‘50s, ‘60s, ‘70s
that were involved politically?

JM: That, you mean figures that | know of that.? . .

MR: Yeah, maybe like Waterville people, or peopld ffeu knew through George or?

JM: |, you mean that you should talk to or | shouwallk ebout them?

MR: Or, yeah, both actually.

JM: See, I, most of the ones that | would know haagspd on, the old timers. Oh, you know,
somebody that you might, and would be interestitigrnk, would be Clayton Laverdiere. Have
you had that name yet?

MR: I've heard of Laverdiere.

JM: Well, this is Clayton Laverdiere, who used totenfor theWaterville Sentinel, who was a
very good friend of Senator Muskie, who actuallysveae of the, when Senator Muskie was the,
yeah, you probably don’t want that on the tape.(noisy machine outside or something)

(Taping paused)

MR: And what would you say Senator Muskie’s legaayMaine and Maine politics has been?
JM: Well I, my feelings are that Senator Muskie, leder in environmental things, and Maine
is such an environmental state, as is the couatny,he was the champion of the cause. And, he
actually was a giant in the eyes of at least mespfe in Waterville, and many people in Maine.
And | think he obviously, as I've heard my brotisay, played such a pronounced role in

George’s political philosophy and what have yowt Bthink generally speaking, it would take
an outstanding person to outdo Senator Muskiegusat senator from Maine, but also a great



senator for the United States. And, but I thimk,the whole | think the thing that impresses, at
least in my case, Mike, would be that he did suohderful things for the environment without
costing the state jobs. He did it in such a nieg vand was persistent. And thank God George
followed up on it in his stint in the senate. SBthink Muskie will always be enshrined in
Mainers’ hearts for many, many years as a greaftgtatesman.

MR: Okay, great, thanks a lot for your time.
JM: All right?

End of Interview
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